Immunohistochemical relationships of huntingtin-associated protein 1 with enteroendocrine cells in the pyloric mucosa of the rat stomach

(ラット胃の幽門部粘膜における腸管内分泌細胞と

ハンチンチン関連タンパク質 HAP1 の免疫組織化学的検討)

氏名 柳井 章江

所属 山口大学大学院 医学系研究科 神経解剖学講座

令和3年2月

Contents

Page Number

1.	Abstract	3
2.	Introduction	5
3.	Purpose of the present study	7
4.	Materials and Methods	8
	4.1. Primary antibodies	8
	4.2. Animals and ethics	8
	4.3. Tissue preparation for immunohistochemistry	8
	4.4. Immunohistochemistry	9
	4.4.1. Single immunoperoxidase staining	9
	4.4.2. Double-label immunofluorescence	9
	histochemical staining	
	4.5. Electron microscopy	10
	4.6. Tissue analyses and Cell counting	11
	4.7. Photomicrographs	11
5.	Results	13
6.	Discussion	21
7.	Conclusion	24
8.	Acknowledgement	24
9.	References	25

1. ABSTRACT

Huntingtin-associated protein 1 (HAP1) is a neuronal cytoplasmic protein that is predominantly expressed in the brain and spinal cord. In addition to the central nervous system, HAP1 is also expressed in the peripheral organs including endocrine system. Different types of enteroendocrine cells (EEC) are present in the digestive organs. To date, the characterization of HAP1-immunoreactive (ir) cells remains unreported there. In the present study, the expression of HAP1 in pyloric stomach in adult male rats and its relationships with different chemical markers for EEC [gastrin, marker of gastrin (G) cells; somatostatin, marker of delta (D) cells; 5-HT, marker of enterochromaffin (EC) cells; histamine, marker of enterochromaffin-like (ECL) cells] were examined employing single- or double-labelled immunohistochemistry and with light-, fluorescence- or electron-microscopy. HAP1-ir cells were abundantly expressed in the glandular mucosa but were very few or none in the surface epithelium. Double-labelled immunofluorescence staining for HAP1 and markers for EECs showed that almost all the G-cells expressed HAP1. In contrast, HAP1 was completely lacking in D-cells, EC-cells or ECL-cells. Our current study is the first to clarify that HAP1 is selectively expressed in G-cells in rat pyloric stomach, which probably reflects HAP1's involvement in regulation of the secretion of gastrin.

Keywords: huntingtin-associated protein 1, gastrin, somatostatin D cells; enterochromaffin cells; enterochromaffin-like cells; immunohistochemistry

Abbreviations

DAB, diaminobenzidine
EC, enterochromaffin
EEC, enteroendocrine cells
ECL, enterochromaffin-like
G-cells, gastrin cells
HAP1, Huntingtin-associated protein 1
htt, huntingtin
NDS, normal donkey serum
polyQ, polyglutamine
SBMA, spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy
STB, stigmoid body

2. Introduction

Huntingtin-associated protein 1 (HAP1) is a cytoplasmic protein and considered as a determinant marker for stigmoid body (STB; Li et al., 1996; Gutekunst et al., 1998; Fujinaga et al., 2004, 2007, 2009; Islam et al., 2012, 2017, 2020a; Wroblewski et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2020). STB was originally identified in our previous studies as a spherical-to oval-shaped, non-membranous physiological cytoplasmic inclusion (0.5 to 3 mm in diameter) of granular to fuzzy texture with low-moderate electron density (Shinoda et al., 1992, 1993).

HAP1 was originally recognized as a polyglutamine (polyQ) length-dependent interactor of huntingtin (htt), the gene product responsible for Huntington's disease (Li et al., 1995). STB/HAP1 can protect against apoptosis and cell death induced by htt with an expanded polyQ sequence (Li et al., 2003; Metzger et al., 2008). In addition, STB/HAP1 can also bind to a polyQ-expanded androgen receptor derived from spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy (SBMA), and over expression of HAP1 suppresses polyQ androgen receptor-induced apoptosis (Takeshita et al., 2006). STB/HAP1 can also interact with the causal agents of some other polyQ diseases, such as with Abelson helper integration site 1 in Joubert syndrome (Sheng et al., 2006), TATA binding protein in spinocerebellar ataxia type 17 (Prigge and Schmidt, 2007) and ataxin 3 in Machado-Joseph disease (Takeshita et al., 2011). In addition, a number of biochemical, in situ hybridization, histochemical and immunohistochemical studies on STB/HAP1-expression and distribution have clarified that HAP1 is abundantly expressed in the limbic-hypothalamic regions of brain and in the dorsal horn of spinal cord in normal rodents (Fujinaga et al., 2004; Takeshita et al., 2006, 2011; Islam et al., 2012, 2017; Wroblewski et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2020). Interestingly, these regions of the brain and spinal cord are usually spared from neurodegeneration, whereas the regions lacking STB/HAP1 or with little expression such as neocortex, striatum, thalamus, cerebellum and spinal motoneurons are major targets in different neurodegenerative diseases

5

(Fujinaga et al., 2004; Islam et al., 2017). Taken together, STB/HAP1 is thought to augment the threshold of vulnerability to neurodegenerative apoptosis, confer increased neuronal stability, and subsequently protect against cell death and apoptosis in several neurodegenerative diseases. This has been referred to as the "STB/HAP1 protection hypothesis" (Fujinaga et al., 2001; Metzger et al., 2008; Takeshita et al., 2006; Islam et al., 2017; Wroblewski et al., 2018).

In terms of physiological functions, several studies have reported that hypothalamic HAP1 can act as a mediator of feeding behaviors and modulate hypothalamic function for stress response (Chan et al., 2002; Dragatsis et al., 2004; Sheng et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2010; Niu et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2020). However, using in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry, it has also been reported that HAP1 is expressed not only in the central nervous system but also in the peripheral organs including pituitary gland, thyroid gland, and pancreatic islets (Dragatsis et al. 2000; Liao et al., 2005). In the rat pituitary, HAP1 is selectively expressed only in thiotrophs, whereas in pancreatic islets, HAP1 is expressed in the B cells (Liao et al., 2010). In thyroid gland, HAP1 is believed to express in parafollicular cells (Liao et al., 2005). In addition to these peripheral organs, STB/HAP1 is also expressed in the mucosa of gastrointestinal tract (Liao et al., 2005; Li et al., 2019). The expression of HAP1 is higher in the mucosa of stomach than that of other regions of the gastrointestinal tract (Li et al., 2019). In the gastric mucosa, HAP1-immunoreactive (ir) cells are densely distributed in the glands, and they are numerous in the pyloric region, few to moderate in the fundic region, and very few in the cardiac region (Liao et al., 2005; Li et al., 2019). Abundant expression of HAP1 in the mucosa of pyloric stomach imply that STB/HAP1 may be involved in processing or modification of certain gastric functions. In this context, it becomes important to clarify the characterization of HAP1-ir cells in the mucosa of stomach.

3. Purpose of the present study

Gastrointestinal hormones secreted from enteroendocrine cells (EEC) play a vital role in modulating metabolic and digestive functions (Furness et al., 2013; Worthington et al., 2018; Hunne et al., 2019). The major types of chemically defined distinct endocrine cells in the gastric mucosa are gastrin (G) cells, delta (D) cells, enterochromaffin (EC) cells and enterochromaffin-like (ECL) cells (Solcia et al., 2000). Gastrin is a well-known marker of Gcells), somatostatin is used as marker of D-cells, 5-HT (serotonin) is treated as marker of ECcells and histamine is used as marker of ECL-cells (Solcia et al., 2000; Hunne et al., 2019). To date, however, elucidation of immunohistochemical relationships of HAP1-ir cells with the above-mentioned markers has not been conducted.

In the present study, using immunohistochemistry and electron microscopy, first we set out to confirm the expression and subcellular distribution of HAP1 in the mucosa of pyloric stomach and then we aim to carry out double-label immunofluorescence immunohistochemistry of HAP1 with above-mentioned four markers to reveal the immunohistochemical relationships of HAP1 with EECs.

4. Materials and methods

4.1. Primary antibodies

The details of the primary antibodies used in the current study are listed in Table 1, most of which are commercially available. The characterization of these primary antibodies was clarified in our previous studies or earlier by others (Table 1). In addition, the characterization of the rabbit polyclonal anti-HAP1 primary antibody was also determined in the present study (Fig. 1).

4.2. Animals and ethics

A total of 12 adult male Wistar rats (8-10-week-old) were purchased from Japan SLC Inc., (Shizuoka, Japan) for the current study. The animals were kept in groups (3-4 rats) at 22-24⁰C temperature with a 12 to 12-h light dark cycle (lights on 08:00-20:00) and provided sufficient water and food. Experimental protocols used in this study were approved by the Yamaguchi University School of Medicine Committee on the Ethics of Animal Experimentation and carried out according to the guidelines for Animal Research of the Government of Japan (Law No. 105, Notification No. 6). All efforts were employed to reduce the number of rats used and their suffering.

4.3. Tissue preparation for immunohistochemistry

Rats were transcardially perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB; pH 7.4) under anesthesia with pentobarbital sodium (60-80 mg/kg, intraperitoneal injection). Pyloric region of the stomach was collected and immediately post-fixed for overnight in the same fixative used for perfusion and then transferred to 0.1 M PB containing 30% sucrose solution for one weeks. Finally, the samples were frozen in powdered dry ice and then sectioned at a thickness of 30 \Box m on a cryostat.

4.4. Immunohistochemistry

4.4.1. Single immunoperoxidase staining

Single immunoperoxidase immunohistochemistry was performed as described in our previous studies (Jahan et al., 2015; Islam et al., 2020b). In brief, free floating sections of pyloric stomach were blocked with 10% normal goat serum (NGS; Millipore, Temecula, CA, USA) containing 0.3% Triton X-100 at room temperature for 2h, pretreated with 1.5% hydrogen peroxide and 50% methanol at 4 °C for 30 min and then incubated with rabbit polyclonal primary antibody to HAP1 (1: 500) at 20 °C for 3 days. For negative control, preimmune normal rabbit serum was used instead of primary antibody. Then, after three washing the sections were incubated at 20 °C for 2 h with biotinylated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (Millipore; 1:1,000 dilution) followed by incubation at 20 °C for 2h with peroxidase-conjugated streptavidin (1:1,000 dilution; Dako, Glostrup, Denmark). After washing three times with 0.05 M Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.6), the sections were processed for nickel-enhanced diaminobenzidine (DAB) reaction at 4 °C for 10-20 min with a mixture of 0.02% 3, 3[/] DAB; (Dojinbo Laboratories, Kumamoto, Japan) and 0.6% nickel ammonium sulfate (Sigma-Aldrich, Tokyo, Japan) in 0.05 M Tris-HCl buffer containing 0.0008% H₂O₂. Finally, the sections were mounted on glass slides, air-dried for 30 min, dehydrated using graded series of alcohol and Xylene and lastly embedded with Entellan New (Millipore).

4.4.2. Double-label immunofluorescence histochemical staining

Double-label immunofluorescence immunohistochemistry was carried out as described in our previous reports (Islam et al., 2017, 2020a; Wroblewski et al., 2018). In brief, free floating sections of pyloric stomach were blocked with 10% NDS containing 0.3% Triton X-100 at 4 °C for 2 h and incubated with goat polyclonal anti-HAP1 (1:5,000) antibody in combination

with a rabbit anti-histamine (1:500), mouse anti-somatostatin (1:25), rabbit anti-5HT (1:200) antibody at 20 °C for 3 days (Table 1 for detail about primary antibodies). After washing, the sections were incubated with a mixture of Alexa Fluor 594-conjugated donkey anti-goat IgG (Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA; 1:1,000) and Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit IgG or anti-mouse IgG (Invitrogen, Rockford, IL, USA; 1:1,000) secondary antibodies at 20 °C for 3 h. Similarly, double-staining of HAP1 and gastrin was performed using rabbit anti-HAP1 antibody (1:500) and goat-anti gastrin antibody (1:2000). In this case, mixture of Alexa Fluor 594-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit (Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA; 1:1,000) and Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit (Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA; 1:1,000) and Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-goat IgG (Invitrogen, Rockford, IL, USA; 1:1,000) and Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-goat IgG (Invitrogen, Rockford, IL, USA; 1:1,000) and Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-goat IgG (Invitrogen, Rockford, IL, USA; 1:1,000) secondary antibodies were used. The sections were then mounted on glass slides, air-dried for 30 min and finally embedded with Fluoromount/Plus (K048, Diagonostic Biosystems, Pleasanton, CA, USA).

4.5. Electron microscopy

Tissue preparation for immunoelectron microscopy was performed, as previously described (Islam et al., 2012; 2017). Adult male Wistar rats were anesthetized, as described above, intracardially perfused with 0.5% glutaraldehyde and 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M PB. The trimmed slabs of stomach blocks containing the pylorus of stomach were cut into 30-µm-thick sections on a vibrating blade microtome (Leica VT 1000S; Leica Microsystems, Nussloch, Germany) in 0.1 M PB. The free-floating sections were stained by the nickel-enhanced DAB reaction method, as described above, using the rabbit polyclonal anti-HAP1 antibody. HAP1-stained sections were postfixed for 1 h with 1% osmium tetroxide in 0.1 M PB, block-stained for 1 h with 2% uranyl acetate in distilled water, dehydrated with a graded series of ethanol rinses, infiltrated in propylene oxide, placed in a mixture of propylene oxide and Epoxy resin (Quetol 812; Nissin EM, Tokyo, Japan; 1:1), and then embedded on Aclar

film (Nisshin EM, Tokyo, Japan) in Epon. Ultrathin sections were obtained from the trimmed slab containing the mucosa of pylorus with HAP1-ir structures using ultramicrotome (Ultracut OmU4; Reichert-Jung, Vienna, Austria) and mounted on copper grids. The sections were observed under electron microscope (H-7500; Hitachi Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) operated at 80 kV without uranyl acetate or lead staining.

4.6. Tissue analyses and Cell counting

Co-expression ratios for HAP1/EEC markers (Table 2) were calculated from the actual number of HAP1-ir cells and EEC markers-ir cells, and from those double-stained for HAP1 and EEC markers following the counting procedure described in previous studies (Nagano and Shinoda, 1994; Palus et al., 2018). From one rat, at least 300 positive cells were counted for every combination of HAP1 and an EEC marker. Values were shown as mean \pm SEM (n = 4). HAP1-ir cells with a clearly visible-nucleus were counted in our current study.

4.7. Photomicrographs

A color digital Lumenera USB 2.0 camera (Lumenera Corporation, Ottawa, Canada) equipped with an Eclipse E80i photomicroscope (Nikon) was used to capture the immunoperoxidase staining images. A laser-scanning confocal microscope (LSM510 Meta; Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) was used to obtain a single optical section (2048 × 2048 pixels) for immunofluorescence staining images. Finally, Adobe Photoshop Elements 2018 (Adobe Systems, Inc., San Jose, CA, USA) were used to modify the images only for contrast and brightness.

Antibody		Immunogen	Host /clonality	Code/Source	Source	Dilution	References
	Anti- HAP1 (R19)	Rat HAP1 C- terminus	Goat polyclonal	Cat# sc-8770, RRID: AB_647322	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA	1:5,000	Islam et al., 2017
	Anti- HAP1 (R12)	Rat HAP1 full length	Rabbit polyclonal	Cat# HAP1R12, RRID: AB_2571562	Shinoda lab, Yamaguchi University, Japan	1:500	Fujinaga et al., 2009
	Anti-gastrin (C-20)	Human gastrin	Goat polyclonal	Cat# sc-7783, RRID: AB_2108261	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA	1:2,000	Bonnavion et al., 2015
Primary antibody	Anti- somatostatin	Human somatostatin	Mouse monoclonal	Cat# V1169, RRID: AB_2313730	Biomeda, Foster City, CA, USA	1:25	Chang et al., 2007
	Anti-5HT	5HT conjugated to Bovine serum albumin	Rabbit polyclonal	Cat# 066D, RRID: AB_2313879	Biomeda, Foster City, CA, USA	1:200	Bartel et al., 2006
	Anti- histamine	Hstamine coupled to succinylated KLH with carbodiimide linker.	Rabbit polyclonal	Cat# 22939, RRID: AB_572245	Immunostar, Hudson, WI, USA	1:500	Webber et al., 2017
	biotinylated anti-goat	IgG, isolated from donkey	Polyclonal	Cat# AP180B, RRID: AB 11214009	Millipore, Temecula, CA, USA	1:1,000	Islam et al., 2012
	Alexa Fluor 594 donkey anti-goat	IgG (H + L) goat	Polyclonal	Cat# A11058, RRID: AB_2534105	Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA	1:1,000	Wroblewski et al., 2018
Secondary antibody	Alexa Fluor 594 donkey anti-rabbit	IgG (H + L) rabbit	Polyclonal	Cat# A21207, RRID: AB_141637	Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA	1:1,000	Fujinaga et al., 2011
	Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit	IgG (H + L) rabbit	Polyclonal	Cat# A32790, RRID: AB_2534105	Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA	1:1,000	Jahan et al., 2015
	Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-goat	IgG (H + L) goat	Polyclonal	Cat# A11055, RRID: AB 2534102	Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA	1:1,000	Takeshita et al., 2011
	Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-mouse	IgG (H + L) mouse	Polyclonal	Cat# A21202, RRID: AB_141607	Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA	1:1,000	Islam et al., 2017

Table1. Antibodies used in the present study

AR, Androgen receptor; HRP, horseradish peroxidase, IgG, Immunoglobulin G, RRID,

Research Resource Identifier; KLH, keyhole limpet hemocyanin

5. Results

5.1. Distribution and subcellular localization of HAP1-immunoreactivity in the gastric mucosa

In immunohistochemistry, abundant expression of HAP1-ir cells were observed in the pyloric part of gastric mucosa (Fig. 1A-B). HAP1-ir cells were mainly distributed in the glandular mucosa but were very few or none in the surface epithelium.

In the current study, majority of the HAP1-ir cells had dot-like structures in their cytoplasm (type A), whereas few cells showed only diffuse HAP1-immunoreactivity in the cytoplasm with no clear dot-like structures (type B). Using pre-immune rabbit serum instead of primary antibody, both types of HAP1-immunoreactivity were completely eliminated (Fig. 1C). In the present study, using immuno-electron microscopy, the HAP1-ir dot like structures were proven to be STBs (Fig. D-F). In the present study, the diameter of the STB was about 0.7 mm.

5.2. Immunohistochemical relationships of STB/HAP1 with different EECs

To elucidate the morphological relationships between HAP1 and EECs (Gastrin cells, somatostatin D cells, 5HT-ir (serotonin) EC cells and histamine-ir ECL cells), first the expression and distribution of the markers of EEC were examined immunohistochemically in the mucosa of pyloric part of stomach (Fig. 2A-D). All the EECs were prominently expressed in the glandular mucosa of pyloric stomach. Most of the histamine-ir cells (2A), somatostatin-ir cells (2B), 5HT-ir cells (2C), and gastrin-ir cells were located mainly at the base of the epithelial layer. HAP1 showed similar distribution pattern as that of EECs in the pyloric stomach (Fig. 1-2).

Next, we performed double-label immunofluorescence staining for HAP1 with gastrin (marker of G cells), somatostatin (marker of D cells), 5-HT (marker of EC cells) and

13

histamine (marker of ECL cells). Our current double-immunofluorescence staining results revealed that HAP1 was never detected in somatostatin- (Fig. 3A-D), 5-HT- (Fig. 3E-H), or histamine-expressing cells (Fig. 3I-L) (Table. 2). Intriguingly, in contrast, the cell counting of our double-staining data showed that almost all the HAP1-ir cells co-expressed with gastrinexpressing cells (Fig. 4A-L; Table. 2). Cell counting revealed that the co-expression ratio of HAP1 in gastrin-ir cells was 98.6 \pm 1.2% and that of gastrin in HAP1-ir cells was 93.2 \pm 2.6% (Table 2). Our current results confirmed that HAP1 is expressed exclusively in the G cells but not in the D cells, EC cells or ECL cells in the pyloric part of gastric mucosa.



Fig. 1. Immunohistochemical distribution and immuno-electron microscopy of huntingtin-associated protein 1 (HAP1) in pylorus of the stomach.

(A) Immunohistochemistry showing the presence of HAP1-immunoreactive (ir) cells in the pylorus. (B) Enlargement of Box in A. (C) Using of pre-immune rabbit serum instead of rabbit polyclonal anti-HAP1 antibody eliminated the HAP1-immunoreactivity. (D) Flat-

embedded section in epoxy resin. (E-F) Electron microscopy of HAP1-ir cells in pyloric stomach. Insets are the enragement of * in B and D showing sub-cellular expression of HAP1. Arrows indicate stigmoid body (STB). CM, circular muscle. Scale bar = $50 \mu m$ in A, C; 20 μm in B, D; 10 μm in insets of B, D; 1 μm in E, and 500 nm in F.



Fig. 2. Comparative distribution of the enteroendocrine cell markers in the pylorus of

the stomach.

Arrowheads showing the immunoreactions for (A) histamine, (B) somatostatin, (C) 5 H T and

(D) gastrin. Scale bar = $50 \ \mu m$ in A–D.



Fig. 3. Double-label immunofluorescence immunohistochemistry for HAP1 with Histamine, somatostatin and 5HT.

Photomicrograph showing double-label immunofluorescence staining of HAP1 and histamine (A–D), somatostatin (E–H) and 5HT (I–L) in the pylorus of the stomach. Arrowsheads indicate cells for single-positive for HAP1. Arrows indicate cells single-positive for histamine, somatostatin or 5HT. Scale bar = $50 \mu m$ in A–L.



Fig. 4. Double-label immunofluorescence immunohistochemistry for HAP1 with gastrin. Photomicrograph showing double-label immunofluorescence staining of HAP1 and gastrin (low magnification A–D, high magnification E–H) in the pylorus of the stomach. I–L are the enlargements of boxes in E-H respectively. Double arrowheads indicate cells positive for both HAP1 and gastrin. Double arrowheads indicate cells positive both for HAP1 and gastrin. Arrows indicate STB. Scale bar = 50 μ m in A–D, 10 μ m in E–L.

 Table 2. Co-expression ratios of HAP1/EEC markers and EEC markers/HAP1 in the

 pyloric part of gastric mucosa

Relationship of HAP1				
with different EEC	Somatostatin	5HT	Histamine	Gastrin
markers (ratio %)				
HAP1/Marker	0	0	0	98.6 ± 1.2
Marker/HAP1	0	0	0	93.2 ± 2.6

Values represent the mean \pm SEM (n = 4). From one rat, at least 300 positive cells were counted for every combination of HAP1 and an EEC marker. EEC, enteroendocrine cells; HAP1, Huntingtin-associated protein 1

6. Discussion

In the current study employing single- or double-label immunohistochemistry and electron microscopy, we determined the expression and subcellular distribution of HAP1 in the pyloric part of the rat stomach. The present study is the first to characterize HAP1immunoreactivity in relation to the EEC subpopulations. Although the expression of HAP1 has been reported in the central nervous system previously in a number of studies (Li et al., 1996; Gutekunst et al., 1998; Dragatsis et al., 2004; Sheng et al., 2006, 2008; Lin et al., 2010; Niu et al., 2011; Fujinaga et al., 2004, 2007, 2009; Islam et al., 2012, 2017, 2020a; Wroblewski et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2020), its expression has been cursorily reported in the stomach (Liao et al., 2005; Li et al., 2019). Our current results clearly showed that in stomach most of the HAP1-ir cells had STBs in their cytoplasm (type A), while few other HAP1-ir cells had only diffuse staining in their cytoplasm with undetectable STBs (type B), as previously observed in the brain and spinal cord (Li et al., 1998a; Fujinaga et al., 2007; Islam et al., 2012, 2017). There are two HAP1 isoforms, HAP1A and HAP1B, which have different C-terminal amino acid sequences (Li et al., 1998a; Fujinaga et al., 2007). The emergence of STBs depends on the intracellular expression ratio of HAP1A and HAP1B. Cells with comparatively more HAP1A induce the STB in their cytoplasm while those with comparatively more HAP1B display diffuse HAP1-immunoreaction in their cytoplasm (Fujinaga et al., 2007; Islam et al., 2017, 2020a; Wroblewski et al., 2018). In the current study, it is thus somewhat difficult to discern the staining of HAP1A from that of HAP1B in immunohistochemistry.

In our present study, we observed that HAP1-ir cells were mainly expressed in the glandular mucosa of the rat pyloric stomach. Our current results are consistent with a previous study (Liao et al., 2005). Different types of EECs are present in the glandular mucosa of pyloric stomach. The major types of chemically defined distinct endocrine cells in

21

the gastric mucosa are G-cells, D-cells, EC-cells and ECL-cells (Solcia et al., 2000; Hunne et al., 2019). In the present study, we observed these EECs are located mainly at the base of the epithelial layer. These results are also consistent with a previous study (Hunne et al., 2019). To characterize the HAP1-ir cells, we performed double-label immunofluorescence staining for HAP1 with gastrin (marker of G-cells), somatostatin (marker of D-cells), 5-HT (marker of EC-cells) and histamine (marker of ECL-cells). The most striking finding in the current study, however, is that almost all of the G cells express HAP1-immunoreaction, while the D cells, EC cells or EEC cells are completely devoid of HAP1-immunoreaction. G-cells are neuroendocrine cells responsible for the synthesis and secretion of gastrin. G-cells are mainly expressed in the pyloric antrum but can also be found in the duodenum and the pancreas (Schubert, 2016; Xiaoli et al., 2017). Our current results indicate that HAP1 is selectively expressed in G-cells, which probably reflects HAP1's involvement in regulation of the secretion of gastrin. It has been suggested that HAP1 can participate in intracellular trafficking in cells, including transport of molecules, vesicles or organelles, and endocytosis of membrane receptors (Gauthier et al. 2004; Kittler et al. 2004; McGuire et al. 2006; Rong et al. 2007). The expression of HAP1 in G cells strongly suggests that HAP1 may play a vital role in the trafficking of membrane receptors, channel proteins or secretory granules in G-cells.

In the present study, another intriguing data is that the somatostatin D-cells, EC-cells and histamine ECL-cells are devoid of HAP1-immunoreaction. According to the STB/HAP1 protection hypothesis, lack of HAP1-immunoreaction in these cells might make them more vulnerable to certain stresses than HAP1-ir G-cells. It has been hypothesized that HAP1 expression can raise the threshold of vulnerability to degeneration and confer increased stability to cells expressing HAP1, protecting against apoptosis or cell death. Brain or spinal cord regions that are rich in HAP1, including limbic-hypothalamic regions of brain and the

22

dorsal horn of the spinal cord, are usually spared from neurodegeneration. On the other hand, regions with little or no STB/HAP1 expression such as the neocortex, striatum, thalamus, cerebellum, and spinal motoneurons are major targets in the aforementioned neurodegenerative diseases (Fujinaga et al., 2004; Takeshita et al., 2006, 2011; Islam et al., 2012, 2017). Moreover, it has recently been reported that overexpression of HAP1 reduced cell growth in breast cancer cell lines (Zhu et al., 2013). In addition, HAP1 is dramatically decreased in pancreatic cancer tissues (Li et al., 2019). Taken together, our current results may suggest that HAP1 plausibly protect G-cells from cancerous growth in certain stress conditions. Future studies should include detailed physiological and morphological experiments to elucidate the effects of HAP1 on the vulnerability of EECs.

7. Conclusion

In conclusion, the current study is the first to characterize the HAP1-ir cells in the pyloric stomach in adult rats. Our current results suggest that HAP1 is selectively expressed in G-cells, which probably reflects HAP1's involvement in regulation of the secretion of gastrin.

8. Acknowledgements

We extend our thanks to Mika Takahashi, Jun Oba and Chikahisa Matsuo for their technical and administrative assistance.

Funding sources

This work was supported by Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research of the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (KAKENHI Grant Numbers 19K02318 to AY and 20K16108 to MNI), Grants-in-Aid for Translational research of Yamaguchi University Hospital 2020 (to KN) and Grants-in-Aid for Basic Research of Fujii Setsuro Memorial Foundation (to KS).

Conflict of interest statement

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

9. References

- Bartel, D. L., Sullivan, S. L., Lavoie, E. G., Sévigny, J., & Finger, T. E. (2006). Nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase-2 is the ecto-ATPase of type I cells in taste buds. J. Comp. Neurol., 497(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20954
- Bonnavion, R., Teinturier, R., Jaafar, R., Ripoche, D., Leteurtre, E., Chen, Y. J., Rehfeld, J.
 F., Lepinasse, F., Hervieu, V., Pattou, F., Vantyghem, M. C., Scoazec, J. Y., Bertolino,
 P., & Zhang, C. X. (2015). Islet Cells Serve as Cells of Origin of Pancreatic GastrinPositive Endocrine Tumors. Mol. Cell. biol. 35(19), 3274–3283.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00302-15
- Chan, E.Y., Nasir, J., Gutekunst, C.A., Coleman, S., Maclean, A., Maas, A., Metzler, M., Gertsenstein, M., Ross, C.A., Nagy, A., Hayden, M. R., 2002. Targeted disruption of Huntingtin-associated protein-1 (Hap1) results in postnatal death due to depressed feeding behavior. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11, 945–959. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/11.8.945
- Chang, S. Y., Zagha, E., Kwon, E. S., Ozaita, A., Bobik, M., Martone, M. E., Ellisman, M. H., Heintz, N., & Rudy, B. (2007). Distribution of Kv3.3 potassium channel subunits in distinct neuronal populations of mouse brain. J. Comp. Neurol., 502(6), 953–972.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21353
- Chen, X., Xin, N., Pan, Y., Zhu, L., Yin, P., Liu, Q., Yang, W., Xu, X., Li, S., Li, X.-J., 2020. Huntingtin-Associated Protein 1 in Mouse Hypothalamus Stabilizes Glucocorticoid Receptor in Stress Response. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 14, 125. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2020.00125
- Dragatsis, I., Dietrich, P., Zeitlin, S., 2000. Expression of the Huntingtin-associated protein 1 gene in the developing and adult mouse. Neurosci. Lett. 282, 37–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(00)00872-7

Dragatsis, I., Zeitlin, S., Dietrich, P., 2004. Huntingtin-associated protein 1 (Hap1) mutant

mice bypassing the early postnatal lethality are neuroanatomically normal and fertile but display growth retardation. Hum. Mol. Genet. 13, 3115–3125. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddh328

- Fujinaga, R., Kawano, J., Matsuzaki, Y., Kamei, K., Yanai, A., Sheng, Z., Tanaka, M., Nakahama, K.I., Nagano, M., Shinoda, K., 2004. Neuroanatomical distribution of Huntingtin-associated protein 1-mRNA in the male mouse brain. J. Comp. Neurol. 478, 88–109. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20277
- Fujinaga, R., Takeshita, Y., Uozumi, K., Yanai, A., Yoshioka, K., Kokubu, K., Shinoda, K., 2009. Microtubule-dependent formation of the stigmoid body as a cytoplasmic inclusion distinct from pathological aggresomes. Histochem. Cell Biol. 132, 305–318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00418-009-0618-9
- Fujinaga, R., Takeshita, Y., Yoshioka, K., Nakamura, H., Shinoda, S., Islam, M.N., Jahan, M.R., Yanai, A., Kokubu, K., Shinoda, K., 2011. Intracellular colocalization of HAP1/STBs with steroid hormone receptors and its enhancement by a proteasome inhibitor. Exp. Cell Res. 317, 1689–1700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2011.05.004
- Fujinaga, R., Yanai, A., Nakatsuka, H., Yoshida, K., Takeshita, Y., Uozumi, K., Zhao, C., Hirata, K., Kokubu, K., Nagano, M., Shinoda, K., 2007. Anti-human placental antigen complex X-P2 (hPAX-P2) anti-serum recognizes C-terminus of huntingtin-associated protein 1A common to 1B as a determinant marker for the stigmoid body. Histochem. Cell Biol. 128, 335–348. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00418-007-0315-5
- Furness, J.B., Rivera, L.R., Cho, H.-J., Bravo, D.M., Callaghan, B., 2013. The gut as a sensory organ. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 10, 729–40. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrgastro.2013.180
- Gauthier, L.R., Charrin, B.C., Borrell-Pagès, M., Dompierre, J.P., Rangone, H., Cordelières, F.P., De Mey, J., MacDonald, M.E., Leßmann, V., Humbert, S., Saudou, F., 2004.

Huntingtin controls neurotrophic support and survival of neurons by enhancing BDNF vesicular transport along microtubules. Cell 118, 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.06.018

- Gutekunst, C.A., Li, S.H., Yi, H., Ferrante, R.J., Li, X.J., Hersch, S.M., 1998. The cellular and subcellular localization of huntingtin-associated protein 1 (HAP1): Comparison with huntingtin in rat and human. J. Neurosci. 18, 7674–7686. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.18-19-07674.1998
- Hunne, B., Stebbing, M.J., McQuade, R.M., Furness, J.B., 2019. Distributions and relationships of chemically defined enteroendocrine cells in the rat gastric mucosa. Cell Tissue Res. 378, 33–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-019-03029-3
- Islam, M. N., Maeda, N., Miyasato, E., Jahan, M. R., Tarif, A., Ishino, T., Nozaki, K., Masumoto, K. H., Yanai, A., Shinoda, K., 2020a. Expression of huntingtin-associated protein 1 in adult mouse dorsal root ganglia and its neurochemical characterization in reference to sensory neuron subpopulations. IBRO Rep. 9, 258–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibror.2020.10.001</u>
- Islam, M.N., Sakimoto, Y., Jahan, M.R., Ishida, M., Tarif, A.M.M., Nozaki, K., Masumoto, K., Yanai, A., Mitsushima, D., Shinoda, K., 2020b. Androgen affects the dynamics of intrinsic plasticity of pyramidal neurons in the CA1 hippocampal subfield in adolescent male rats. Neuroscience 440, 15-29.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2020.05.025.

Islam, M., Fujinaga, R., Yanai, A., Jahan, M.R., Takeshita, Y., Kokubu, K., Shinoda, K.,
2012. Characterization of the "sporadically lurking HAP1-immunoreactive (SLH) cells" in the hippocampus, with special reference to the expression of steroid receptors,
GABA, and progenitor cell markers. Neuroscience 210, 67-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.02.029 Islam, M.N., Takeshita, Y., Yanai, A., Imagawa, A., Jahan, M.R., Wroblewski, G., Nemoto, J., Fujinaga, R., Shinoda, K., 2017. Immunohistochemical analysis of huntingtinassociated protein 1 in adult rat spinal cord and its regional relationship with androgen receptor. Neuroscience 340, 201-217.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.10.053

- Jahan, M.R., Kokubu, K., Islam, M., Matsuo, C., Yanai, A., Wroblewski, G., Fujinaga, R., Shinoda, K., 2015. Species differences in androgen receptor expression in the medial preoptic and anterior hypothalamic areas of adult male and female rodents. Neuroscience 284, 943-961. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.11.003
- Kittler, J.T., Thomas, P., Tretter, V., Bogdanov, Y.D., Haucke, V., Smart, T.G., Moss, S.J., 2004. Huntingtin-associated protein 1 regulates inhibitory synaptic transmission by modulating γ-aminobutyric acid type A receptor membrane trafficking. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 12736–12741. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0401860101
- Li, H., Wyman, T., Yu, Z.-X., Li, S.-H., Li, X.-J., 2003. Abnormal association of mutant huntingtin with synaptic vesicles inhibits glutamate release. Hum. Mol. Genet. 12, 2021–30. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddg218
- Li, T., Li, S., Gao, X., Cai, Q., Li, X.J., 2019. Expression and Localization of Huntingtin-Associated Protein 1 (HAP1) in the Human Digestive System. Dig. Dis. Sci. 64, 1486– 1492. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-018-5425-5
- Li, X.J., Li, S.H., Sharp, A.H., Nucifora, F.C., Schilling, G., Lanahan, A., Worley, P., Snydert, S.H., Ross, C.A., 1995. A huntingtin-associated protein enriched in brain with implications for pathology. Nature 378, 398–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/378398a0
- Li, X.J., Sharp, A.H., Li, S.H., Dawson, T.M., Snyder, S.H., Ross, C.A., 1996. Huntingtinassociated protein (HAP1): Discrete neuronal localizations in the brain resemble those of neuronal nitric oxide synthase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 4839–4844.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.10.4839

- Liao, M., Chen, X., Han, J., Yang, S., Peng, T., Li, H., 2010. Selective expression of huntingtin-associated protein 1 in β-cells of the rat pancreatic islets. J. Histochem.
 Cytochem. 58, 255–263. https://doi.org/10.1369/jhc.2009.954479
- Liao, M., Shen, J., Zhang, Y., Li, S.H., Li, X.J., Li, H., 2005. Immunohistochemical localization of Huntingtin-associated protein 1 in endocrine system of the rat. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 53, 1517–1524. https://doi.org/10.1369/jhc.5A6662.2005
- Lin, Y.F., Xu, X., Cape, A., Li, S., Li, X.J., 2010. Huntingtin-associated protein-1 deficiency in orexin-producing neurons impairs neuronal process extension and leads to abnormal behavior in mice. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 15941–15949. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.107318
- McGuire, J.R., Rong, J., Li, S.H., Li, X.J., 2006. Interaction of Huntingtin-associated protein-1 with kinesin light chain: Implications in intracellular trafficking in neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 3552–3559. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M509806200
- Metzger, S., Rong, J., Nguyen, H.-P., Cape, A., Tomiuk, J., Soehn, A.S., Propping, P.,
 Freudenberg-Hua, Y., Freudenberg, J., Tong, L., Li, S.-H., Li, X.-J., Riess, O., 2008.
 Huntingtin-associated protein-1 is a modifier of the age-at-onset of Huntington's
 disease. Hum. Mol. Genet. 17, 1137–1146. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddn003
- Nagano, M., Shinoda, K., 1994. Coexistence of the stigmoid body and estrogen receptor in some neuronal groups involved in rat reproductive functions. Brain Res. 634, 296–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(94)91933-X
- Niu, S.N., Huang, Z.B., Wang, H., Rao, X.R., Kong, H., Xu, J., Li, X.J., Yang, C., Sheng, G.Q., 2011. Brainstem Hap1-Ahi1 is involved in insulin-mediated feeding control.
 FEBS Lett. 585, 85–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2010.11.059</u>

Palus, K., Bulc, M., Czajkowska, M., Miciński, B., Całka, J. (2018). Neurochemical

characteristics of calbindin-like immunoreactive coeliac-cranial mesenteric ganglion complex (CCMG) neurons supplying the pre-pyloric region of the porcine stomach. *Tissue & cell*, *50*, 8–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tice.2017.12.002</u>

- Prigge, J.R., Schmidt, E.E., 2007. HAP1 can sequester a subset of TBP in cytoplasmic inclusions via specific interaction with the conserved TBPCORE. BMC Mol. Biol. 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2199-8-76
- Rong, J., Li, S.-H., Li, X.-J., 2007. Regulation of intracellular HAP1 trafficking. J. Neurosci. Res. 85, 3025–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.21326
- Schubert, M.L., 2016. Gastric acid secretion. Curr. Opin. Gastroenterol. 32 (6), 452-460. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOG.000000000000308
- Sheng, G., Chang, G.Q., Lin, J.Y., Yu, Z.X., Fang, Z.H., Rong, J., Lipton, S.A., Li, S.H., Tong, G., Leibowitz, S.F., Li, X.J., 2006. Hypothalamic huntingtin-associated protein 1 as a mediator of feeding behavior. Nat. Med. 12, 526–533. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1382
- Shinoda, K., Mori, S., Ohtsuki, T., Osawa, Y., 1992. An aromatase-associated cytoplasmic inclusion, the "stigmoid body", in the rat brain: I. Distribution in the forebrain. J. Comp. Neurol. 322, 360–376. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903220306
- Shinoda, K., Nagano, M., Osawa, Y., 1993. An aromatase-associated cytoplasmic inclusion, the "stigmoid body," in the rat brain: II. Ultrastructure (with a review of its history and nomenclature). J. Comp. Neurol. 329, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903290102
- Solcia, E., Rindi, G., Buffa, R., Fiocca, R., Capella, C., 2000. Gastric endocrine cells: Types, function and growth. Regul. Pept. 93 (1-3), 31-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-0115(00)00175-0
- Takeshita, Y., Fujinaga, R., Kokubu, K., Islam, M.N., Jahan, M.R., Yanai, A., Kakizuka, A., Shinoda, K., 2011. Interaction of ataxin-3 with huntingtin-associated protein 1 through

Josephin domain. Neuroreport 22, 232-238.

https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e32834505f4

Takeshita, Y., Fujinaga, R., Zhao, C., Yanai, A., Shinoda, K., 2006. Huntingtin-associated protein 1 (HAP1) interacts with androgen receptor (AR) and suppresses SBMA-mutant-AR-induced apoptosis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 15, 2298–2312.

https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddl156

- Webber, M. P., Thomson, J., Buckland-Nicks, J., Croll, R. P., & Wyeth, R. C. (2017).
 GABA-, histamine-, and FMRFamide-immunoreactivity in the visual, vestibular and central nervous systems of Hermissenda crassicornis. J. Comp. Neurol., *525*(16), 3514–3528. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.24286
- Worthington, J.J., Reimann, F., Gribble, F.M., 2018. Enteroendocrine cells-sensory sentinels of the intestinal environment and orchestrators of mucosal immunity. Mucosal Immunol. 11, 3-20. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2017.73
- Wroblewski, G., Islam, M.N., Yanai, A., Jahan, M.R., Masumoto, K.-H., Shinoda, K., 2018.
 Distribution of HAP1-immunoreactive Cells in the Retrosplenial-retrohippocampal
 Area of Adult Rat Brain and Its Application to a Refined Neuroanatomical
 Understanding of the Region. Neuroscience 394, 109-126.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.10.029
- Xiaoli, L., Wu, C.W., Kim, H.Y., Tian, W., Chiang, F.Y., Liu, R., Anuwong, A., Randolph, G.W., Dionigi, G., Lavazza, M., 2017. Gastric acid secretion and gastrin release during continuous vagal neuromonitoring in thyroid surgery. Langenbeck's Arch. Surg. 402, 265–272. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00423-017-1555-z
- Zhu, L., Song, X., Tang, J., Wu, J., Ma, R., Cao, H., Ji, M., Jing, C., Wang, Z., 2013.
 Huntingtin-associated protein 1: A potential biomarker of breast cancer. Oncol. Rep. 29, 1881–1887. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2013.2303